ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County
Honorable Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

AUG 28 2018

THE STATE,

SC Court of Appeals

RESPONDENT,

V.

WILLIAM CRAIG CAUGHMAN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2015-001867

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TAYLOR D GILLIAM
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial judge err in denying Appellant's motion to suppress, where law enforcement lacked jurisdiction to execute a search warrant on Appellant's property because the multi-jurisdiction agreement was invalid?

- II. Did the trial court err by improperly considering Appellant's alleged alcohol use, where witnesses offered conflicting statements on whether Appellant had been drinking hours before a motor vehicle accident, where there was no testimony that Appellant had any alcohol with his evening meal prior to the accident, and where the trial court suggested immediately prior to sentencing that things might have been different if Appellant had not been drinking?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted during the May 2013 term of the Lexington County grand jury for hit and run resulting in death. R. 777. His case was called to trial on May 20, 2013 before the Honorable Clifton Newman and a jury. Laura Suzanne Mayes and Robert E McNair, III appeared on behalf of the State, and Wayne Floyd represented Appellant.¹

At the conclusion of the four-day trial, the jury found Petitioner guilty as indicted. R. 556, ll. 9 – 15.

Judge Newman sentenced Appellant to twenty years' imprisonment and gave him credit for time served. R. 574, ll. 18 – 21.

On June 17, 2016, a motion was filed by counsel for Appellant to reconstruct the record following the revelation that multiple portions of the trial transcript were missing, including arguments by both parties regarding the validity of a multi-jurisdictional police taskforce agreement, closing arguments by both sides, and various other portions of the trial transcript. R. 634.

The State filed a Return to the motion on July 12, 2016. R. 652. The Motion was granted on August 11, 2016. R. 657.

A reconstruction attempt was held on September 16, 2016. Defense counsel and Assistant Solicitor L. Suzanne Mayes testified. R. 658. A follow-up hearing was held on May 1, 2017 in order to finalize the reconstruction proceedings.

An Order signed by Judge Newman on May 26, 2017 was filed with the Lexington County Clerk of Court on or about June 19, 2017. R. 765 – 776.

¹ Richard Breibart previously represented Appellant. R. 152, l. 25 – R. 153, l. 1.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

Relevant Facts

On February 21, 2010, Tobias Morris was struck by another vehicle and knocked from his motorcycle while on or near 12th Street in Cayce, South Carolina. R. p. 113 l. 6 – R. 115, l. 10. Morris was coherent and able to speak with law enforcement at the hospital. R. 433, ll. 8 – 18. He was treated at Lexington Medical Center but passed away on his scheduled release date. R. 93, ll. 9 – 23.

Lawrence Gilbert called Crimestoppers and alleged that Appellant was the individual who had hit the decedent. R. 298, l. 2 – R. 306, l. 20. Gilbert claimed that Appellant told him that “he had messed up or he had screwed up or something.” R. 300, ll. 7 – 10. Id.

The tip was received by SLED and provided to the Cayce Department of Public Safety. R. 399, l. 23 – R. 400, l. 9. According to restaurant owner Peter Koutrakos, Appellant had spent fifteen dollars at the Hard Knocks Grill on Knox-Abbott Drive in Cayce on February 21, 2010. R. 319, l. 15 – R. 325, l. 21.

Appellant was interviewed at the Cayce Police Department by Edward Pereira, a detective, on May 5, 2010. R. 412, ll. 5 – 19; R. 156 – 246. A search warrant was obtained for Appellant’s property in order to try and locate evidence allegedly located to the accident involving Morris. R. 346, ll. 18 – 24. On May 5, 2010, Jeffrey Simmons, a Lieutenant with the Cayce Police Department, executed the search warrant on Appellant’s property in West Columbia:

The search warrant was obtained by one of the other detectives and was brought to us while we stayed at that scene, and we executed the search warrant after we had it signed and the Magistrate saw probable cause to issue the search warrant.

R. 347, ll. 15 – 24.

It is unclear whether Simmons participated in obtaining the search warrant: Simmons indicated that he and Jason Merrill obtained the search warrant, but he also testified that “[t]he search warrant was obtained by one of the other detectives and brought to us while we stayed at the scene.” R. 347, ll. 15 – 22. Although Merrill never testified, the trial court notified the jury pre-trial that “Investigator James Merrill” of Cayce Public Safety may be called as a witness. R. 10, ll. 24 – 25. Simmons, also an employee of the City of Cayce Police Department, was tasked with taking photographs of Appellant’s property during the execution of the search warrant. R. 348, ll. 15 – 24.

Rick Collins, the Magistrate who issued and signed the search warrant, testified *in camera*. R. 364, ll. 5 – 12. Defense counsel objected to Collins’ testimony due to the fact that he was employed by the Solicitor’s office at the time of trial. R. 364, ll. 14 – 16. Collins was a Lexington County Magistrate in 2010 at the time of the incidents described above. R. 366, ll. 4 – 9. The trial judge allowed Collins’ testimony outside the presence of the jury. R. 365, ll. 16 – 18.

After the intrusion upon Appellant’s property in West Columbia by two employees of the City of Cayce Department of Public Safety, other members of law enforcement went to Appellant’s employer and asked if they could interview him. R. 410, ll. 11 – 18. During the interview, one officer, a detective with the Cayce Department of Public Safety suggested that he had a video from the restaurant, even though that was untrue. R. 431, l. 25 – R. 432, l. 19. The detective admitted that it is “accepted procedure for the police to lie” and use deception. R. 437, ll. 15 – 18. Appellant was arrested May 17, 2010. R. 427, ll. 4 – 17.

At trial, counsel for Appellant objected to the admission of photographs and other evidence that was obtained during the execution of the search warrant. R. 349, ll. 3 – 6. Outside

the presence of the jury, counsel argued that Simmons would not have jurisdiction outside the City of Cayce. R. 350, ll. 21 – 24.

During an *in camera* examination, Simmons indicated that he and Jason Merrill obtained the search warrant from a Lexington County magistrate. R. 351, ll. 5 – 15. Simmons also testified that a “metro agreement with West Columbia” allowed him to “operate in West Columbia’s jurisdiction with full authority that is in Cayce.” *Id.* Simmons recalled that the “Chief of West Columbia” and the Chief of Cayce signed the agreement, and that the document also contained the names of agents from both municipalities on it. R. 352, ll. 17 – 24.

Mike Robinson, a SLED employee, testified that he assisted the Cayce Department of Public Safety in Appellant’s case. R. 353, l. 22 – R. 356, l. 17. After Robinson became aware of a tip, he traveled to Appellant’s property with Simmons. *Id.* Robinson was not involved with obtaining the search warrant, and he left while the search warrant was being executed. R. 357, l. 6 – R. 358 l. 11; R. 359, ll. 14 - 17. He did not personally seize any items. R. 359, l. 25 – R. 360, l. 1.

The agreement was not available at the time of the above testimony. R. 360, ll. 20 – 25.

As defense counsel argued:

We haven’t been provided any jurisdiction agreement, and if there was an agreement that was ongoing as between the counties and municipalities, it requires approval of the governing bodies of those entities.

Since we have not obtained a document as to that, we are raising the issue. We have no document nor anything to show an approval or the governing bodies.

So we have nothing to prove there was jurisdiction to seize whatever was taken.

R. 361, ll. 1 – 9.

The trial judge then cited S.C. Code Ann. § 23-20-50, which at the time read:

(A) An agreement entered into pursuant to this chapter on behalf of a law enforcement authority must be approved by the appropriate state, county, or local law enforcement authority's chief executive officer. A state law enforcement authority must provide a copy of the agreement to the Governor and the Executive Director of the State Budget and Control Board no later than one business day after executing the agreement. An agreement entered into with a local law enforcement authority pursuant to this chapter must be approved by the governing body of each jurisdiction. For agreements entered into prior to June 1, 2000, the agreement may be ratified by the governing body of each jurisdiction.

(B) The officers of the law enforcement provider have the same legal rights, powers, and duties to enforce the laws of South Carolina as the law enforcement agency contracting for the services.

2000 South Carolina Laws Act 382 (S.B. 1321).²

After brief discussion, the trial judge held the issue in abeyance and allowed the parties to research it over the lunch break. R. 363, ll. 10 – 14.

Edward Pereira, the detective with Cayce Department of Public Safety then testified *in camera*. R. 368, l. 20 – R. 374, ll. 18. He testified about the agreement, a copy of which was entered into evidence. R. 371, l. 20 – R. 372, l. 20; R. 576 – 579. On cross-examination, Pereira admitted that the agreement did not list specific kinds of cases to which it pertained. R. 374, ll. 11 – 17. Furthermore, Pereira admitted that the document was not signed by the Mayor of the City of Cayce or the Lexington County Council. *Id.*

Defense counsel requested a continuing objection, and the trial judge acquiesced. R. 375, ll. 1 – 3. Simmons resumed his testimony before the jury. R. 375, ll. 4 – 6. He testified about photographs that he took and evidence that was seized from Appellant's property. R. 375, l. 9 – R. 377, l. 4.

The State then rested. R. 511, l. 23. Defense counsel argued again for suppression:

Specifically at this time we would move [on] behalf of the Defendant to suppress all evidence seized at the Defendant's residence pursuant to the search warrant. It

² S.C. Code Ann. § 23-20-50 was repealed by 2016 Act No. 222, § 2, effective June 3, 2016.

is our position that the search warrant is invalid in this case because it was issued actually in Cayce and it was executed in West Columbia in Lexington County.

R. 519, ll. 17 – 22.

In response, the trial judge sought to differentiate between State v. Burgess and the matter *sub judice* by suggesting that Burgess was a multi-jurisdictional drug enforcement case whereas Appellant's matter involved "an agreement that would pertain to traffic enforcement." R. 520, ll. 3 – 14.³ The trial judge thereby denied counsel's motion. R. 520 ll. 17 – 18.

Closing statements were not transcribed "due to difficulty in hearing them." R. 538, ll. 23 – 25. Partially due to his belief that Appellant had been drinking, the trial judge sentenced Appellant to twenty years on the hit and run charge. R. 574, ll. 3 – 21.

Following sentencing, counsel for Appellant moved for a new trial and sought reconsideration of the sentence. R. 581 – 583. Those were denied following the submission of written memoranda and a hearing on May 21, 2015. R. 585 – 633. Detailed discussion of the traffic enforcement agreement, among other things, took place. R. 585 – 633.

³ As was the case throughout the trial transcript, argument and testimony was not audible on the record and therefore not transcribed.

I. The trial judge erred in denying Appellant's motion to suppress, where law enforcement lacked jurisdiction to execute a search warrant on Appellant's property because the multi-jurisdiction agreement was invalid.

The multi-jurisdiction agreement

On December 1, 2006, county and city law enforcement agencies entered into an "Eleventh Judicial Circuit Selective Traffic Enforcement Unit Agreement." R. 576 – 579. The agreement was made between the following entities:

[T]he Lexington, Saluda, Edgefield and McCormick County Law Enforcement Agencies, including the South Carolina Highway Patrol, the Batesburg-Leesville Police Department, the **Cayce Department of Public Safety**, the Chapin Police Department, the Gaston Police Department, the Irmo Police Department, the Lexington Police Department, the Pine Ridge Police Department, the South Congaree Police Department, the Springdale Police Department, the **West Columbia Police Department**, the Columbia Metropolitan Police Department, the Saluda Police Department, the Ridge Spring Police Department, the Edgefield Police Department, the Johnston Police Department, the Trenton Police Department, the McCormick Police Department, the Lexington County Sheriff's Office, the Saluda County Sheriff's Office, the Edgefield County Sheriff's Office, and the McCormick County Sheriff's Office, collectively as the participating agencies.

Id. (emphasis added).

The agreement, signed by Donald V. Myers as Eleventh Judicial Circuit Solicitor and some of the Chiefs of Police from the aforementioned law enforcement agencies, cited S.C. Code Ann. §23-1-210 and discussed the temporary transfer of law enforcement officers pursuant to written agreement.⁴ Id. The agreement directed chief executive officer of the participating agencies to assign an officer to serve as that agency's respective commander of the Selective

⁴ The agreement was to remain "in full force and effect until a replacement agreement or termination is entered by the participating parties" which seems to contravene the temporary description offered by the statute.

Traffic Enforcement Unit. Id. The “Selective Traffic Unit Officers” were assigned the following responsibilities:

- a. To gather and compile data relating to traffic enforcement;
- b. To devise plans for joint traffic enforcement actions, including coordination with court and detention services;
- c. To conduct briefings immediately preceding each joint traffic enforcement action to disseminate information from the plan;
- d. To conduct joint enforcement actions and engage in public education efforts as necessary in order to effectively reduce traffic violations in the 11th Judicial Circuit;
- e. To prepare after action reports and evaluate the success of each event.

Id.

Notably, the agreement also attempted to confer additional authority on each officer:

Pursuant to 23-1-210 and 23-1-215, Code of Laws of South Carolina (1976), as amended, and other applicable provisions of law, all state, county, and municipal officers will have the power and authority ordinarily granted to a law enforcement officer in their own jurisdiction **while participating in joint traffic enforcement actions in other jurisdictions**. It is the intent of the parties that to the fullest extent permitted by the law of this State, officers, deputies, and agents assigned under this agreement and so transferred shall be vested with authority, jurisdiction, rights, immunities and privileges to include the authority to execute criminal process and the power of arrest as any other duly commissioned officer, deputy, or agent of any other party.

Id.

Boswell and Burgess

Two recent cases from the South Carolina Supreme Court include lengthy discussion about multi-jurisdiction agreements. Both cases held that multi-jurisdictional agreements which had not been approved by town and county councils could not extend authority for law enforcement to work outside of their ordinary jurisdiction.

State v. Boswell

In Boswell, a member of the Lexington County Sheriff’s Department, Joe Quig, investigated Defendant, peered into the windows and inspected the outside of an abandoned

home in nearby Calhoun County. 391 S.C. at 595, 707 S.E.2d at 266. After coming to the conclusion that some of the belongings he spotted belonged to an individual who had filed a complaint with the Lexington County Sheriff's Department following an alleged burglary, Quig procured a search warrant for the home. Id.

Quig and other Lexington County officers set up surveillance outside the home after "clear[ing]" it with a sheriff in Calhoun County. While conducting surveillance one evening, a Lexington County Officer observed the Defendant drive up to the house. Id. at 596, 707 S.E.2d at 267. The officer observed a knife and crowbar so he tackled, handcuffed, and detained the Defendant. Id. Boswell was arrested for "[b]eing at the location nude, masturbating, also throwing weapons, and not following law enforcement that was fully identified." Id. Boswell was also then arrested for the burglary and transported from Calhoun County to the Lexington County Sheriff's Department. Id. Boswell would go on to confess. Id.

At trial, counsel for Boswell sought to suppress his confession on the ground that it was the product "of an unlawful arrest made without legal authority by Lexington County law enforcement made without legal authority by Lexington County law enforcement officers acting outside their territorial jurisdiction." The State offered a 1999 "multi-jurisdictional agreement" which had been entered into by the Calhoun County and Lexington County Sheriffs' Departments that "purported to confer the authority of officers to arrest in the other county's jurisdiction." Id. The agreement in Boswell also incorporated S.C. Code Ann. § 23-1-210 as well as § 17-13-45, which govern agreements involving the temporary transfer of law enforcement officers. 391 S.C. at 600, 707 S.E.2d at 269.

At Boswell's trial, the judge denied counsel's motion to suppress. Id. The judge found that "the Lexington County deputies did act consistently with the standard required by the

statute.” Id. On appeal, the South Carolina Supreme Court held that the officers lacked authority to effectuate an arrest pursuant to the multi-jurisdictional agreement and therefore reversed Boswell’s convictions.

The Court in Boswell analyzed S.C. Code Ann. § 23-20-50, even though that section was not explicitly listed in the multi-jurisdictional agreement: “Given this statute was in effect at the time of Boswell’s arrest, we must assess the validity of the 1999 agreement.” Id. at 602, 707 S.E.2d at 270. The Court construed subsection A of S.C. Code Ann. § 23-20-50 as “requiring governing bodies to formally approve a pre-existing agreement if it is to retain its validity.” Id. (footnote omitted). “Taking into account the significance of territorial jurisdiction, we believe a more stringent approach needs to be followed in order to confer this type of authority.” Id.

Because the 1999 agreement in Boswell had not been voted on by the Lexington County Council, the Court found it to be invalid. Id. Therefore, it could not have operated to authorize the Lexington County officers to arrest Boswell in Calhoun County. Id.

Furthermore, the Boswell Court found that the terms of the 1999 agreement did not cover the actions of the Lexington County officers as the employment of officers from adjacent jurisdictions was to occur “only in the event of emergency situations or when one jurisdiction specifically requested the assistance of officers from the adjacent jurisdiction.” Id. at 603, 707 S.E.2d at 270.

In 2000, the General Assembly promulgated section 23-20-50 to require County approval of multi-jurisdictional agreements. Given this statute was in effect at the time of Appellant’s arrest, just as in Boswell, this court should assess the validity of the agreement. Statutes governing multi-jurisdictional agreements must be strictly complied with to ensure the validity of the agreement. Id. at 602, 707 S.E.2d at 270 (recognizing the significance of territorial

jurisdiction and concluding that a “more stringent approach needs to be followed in order to confer this type of authority”).

State v. Burgess

A few years after Boswell, the South Carolina Supreme Court decided State v. Burgess, another instance of the Court holding that a multi-jurisdictional agreement was invalid because it was not approved by town or county councils. 408 S.C. 421, 759 S.E.2d 407 (2014). The Court analyzed the legislative history of applicable statutes and concluded:

Specifically, section 23-1-210 was enacted in 1981 to address the temporary transfer of law enforcement officers to another jurisdiction, section 23-1-215 was enacted in 1987 to expressly address crimes that occur in multiple jurisdictions, and section 23-20-50 was enacted in 2000 to authorize in 2000 to authorize law enforcement to assist other jurisdictions with certain public safety concerns. Notably, the drafters of these agreements appear to recognize this interrelationship as the agreements usually include a reference to all of these sections.

Id. at 435-6, 759 S.E.2d at 415. (footnote omitted).

The Court held that the agreement in Burgess was invalid, because “Town Council and County Council were the only entities authorized to enter into this multi-jurisdictional agreement.” Id. at 438, 759 S.E.2d at 416.

Discussion

In order for the 2006 agreement to confer authority, it must have been valid and the terms must have covered the factual scenario presented in Appellant’s case. State v. Boswell, 391 S.C. 592, 600, 707 S.E.2d 265, 269. Because the agreement was invalid, officers lacked the jurisdiction to enter Appellant’s property, take photographs, and seize evidence.

The Legislature intended for these multi-jurisdictional agreements to be in place for the purpose of emergency situations. See S.C. Code Ann. § 23-20-30 (2007) (recognizing need for

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