ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

The Honorable Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-001867

RECEIVED
SEP 05 2018
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

WILLIAM CRAIG CAUGHMAN,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

V. HENRY GUNTER, JR.
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

S.R. HUBBARD, III
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

205 E. Main Street
Lexington, SC 29072
(803) 785-8352

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY

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

Standard of Review

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001); State v. Butler, 353 S.C. 383, 388, 577 S.E.2d 498, 500 (Ct. App. 2003). "The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion." State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006); State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 551 S.E.2d 240 (2001). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law." Pagan, 369 S.C. at 208, 631 S.E.2d at 265; State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 540 S.E.2d 464 (2000). "A trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice." State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 176, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995). "Prejudice occurs when there is

reasonable probability the wrongly admitted evidence influenced the jury's verdict.” State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 444, 710 S.E.2d 55, 58 (2011).

Discussion

Appellant contends the trial judge erred in denying his motion to suppress any evidence obtained during the search of his property because law enforcement lacked jurisdiction to execute a search warrant on the property. Appellant avers law enforcement lacked jurisdiction solely because the Eleventh Circuit Selective Traffic Enforcement Unit Agreement is defective in light of State v. Boswell, 391 S.C. 592, 707 S.E.2d 265 (2011), and State v. Burgess, 408 S.C. 421, 759 S.E.2d 407 (2014). This argument lacks merit. Any defect in the multi-jurisdictional agreement is immaterial where Agent Robinson, a SLED agent with statewide jurisdiction, was a key participant in the investigation and was on the scene when the search warrant was executed. In addition to correctly recognizing that they had jurisdiction to execute the warrant because they were accompanied by a SLED agent, the officers from the Cayce Department of Public Safety had an objectively reasonable belief that they also had jurisdiction pursuant to a valid multi-jurisdictional agreement, thus the good faith exception should preclude suppression.

Appellant's case is exceptionally similar to the circumstances present in State v. Hammond, 270 S.C. 347, 242 S.E.2d 411 (1978). In Hammond, the appellant maintained the search warrant was executed by officers without jurisdiction to conduct the search because the warrant was executed by officers from the City of Greenville Police Department and the location was outside the city limits in the county. The testimony at the hearing indicated Deputy Carter of the Greenville County Sheriff's Department accompanied the officers to Hammond's house, and he participated in the arrest and subsequent search. Id. at 353, 242 S.E.2d at 414. The Court

found the evidence Deputy Carter was present was sufficient to find the execution of the search warrant lawful. Id.

The Court referenced Kirby v. Beto, 426 F.2d 258 (5th Cir. 1970), *cert. den.*, 400 U.S. 919, 91 S.Ct. 181, 27 L.Ed.2d 159, in holding the search was lawful. The Court explained the facts of Kirby:

There, a search warrant was issued to officers of the Dallas, Texas, City Police Department, authorizing a search of premises located in the city of Irving, Texas, outside of the Dallas city limits. The defendant argued that since the place to be searched was outside of the jurisdiction of the Dallas police officers, the execution of the search warrant constituted a denial of due process. The court held that the search warrant was executed by law enforcement officers with proper authority, since the Dallas police officers were accompanied by an Irving police officer who was present in the vicinity of the defendant's apartment at all times during the service and execution of the search warrant. See also, State v. Wise, 90 N.M. 659, 567 P.2d 970 (App.1977).

Hammond, 270 S.C. 347, 353-354, 242 S.E.2d 411, 414.

As in Hammond, the presence of Agent Robinson made the execution of the search warrant lawful regardless of whether there was a multi-jurisdictional agreement between Cayce and West Columbia or whether such agreement was valid in light of cases that were considered by appellate courts in the years after the search. The testimony in this case established Agent Robinson was an integral part of the investigation and worked "hand in hand" with Detective Pereira, the lead detective in the case. Agent Robinson was involved in the case when the Crimestoppers tip was received, helped corroborate the tip, was involved in the acquisition of a search warrant, was present when the search warrant was executed, and interviewed Appellant. Critically, the testimony of the officers conclusively established Agent Robinson was present when the search warrant was executed and the requirements of the warrant were all complied with.

The testimony clearly established a SLED agent with proper jurisdiction was involved in the search of Appellant's residence. The search warrant was signed by a magistrate with jurisdiction in Lexington County, and an officer with statewide jurisdiction was present for the search. Interestingly, Lieutenant Simmons also testified that the West Columbia police department sent an officer, Officer Collins, to Appellant's property and he arrived as the search warrant was executed. While the testimony on Officer Collins's arrival is sparse, a West Columbia officer would have undoubtedly had jurisdiction in West Columbia, in addition to Agent Robinson's statewide jurisdiction. Therefore, the trial court properly refused to suppress the warrant and evidence seized during its execution.³

Finally, even if this Court should find that the law enforcement officers did not have jurisdiction to effectuate the search of Appellant's property, the appropriate remedy is not the application of the exclusionary rule and the suppression of the evidence. The execution of a search warrant outside of the territorial jurisdiction of a municipal agency is not the kind of egregious constitutional violation that warrants the application of the exclusionary rule. See State v. Chandler, 267 S.C. 138, 143, 226 S.E.2d 553, 555 (1976) ("exclusion of evidence should be limited to violations of constitutional rights and not to statutory violations, at least where the appellant cannot demonstrate prejudice at trial resulting from the failure to follow statutory

³ Furthermore, even if this Court should find that the officers in this case did not have jurisdiction to conduct the search, the good faith exception should preclude suppression because the officers had an objectively reasonable belief that they also had jurisdiction pursuant to a multi-jurisdictional agreement that was unquestionably valid at the time. The search in this case occurred in May of 2010, one year before the Supreme Court's opinion in Boswell and four years before the Supreme Court's opinion in Burgess. The officers could reasonably believe that, while Agent Robinson clearly had jurisdiction, they also had jurisdiction in West Columbia because of the multi-jurisdictional agreement. Cf. United States v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897 (1984) (finding an officer's reliance on a search warrant was not objectively unreasonable despite the fact the search warrant affidavit did not contain sufficient information to establish probable cause); Illinois v. Krull, 480 U.S. 340 (1987) (finding the exclusionary rule does not apply where officers act in objectively reasonable reliance upon a statute authorizing a particular warrantless search but the statute is later found to violate the Fourth Amendment). Because the officers in this case were acting in good faith, the purposes of the exclusionary rule would not be served by suppressing the evidence obtained during the search of Appellant's property. See Leon, 468 U.S. at 918 ("[S]uppression of evidence obtained pursuant to a warrant should be ordered only on a case-by-case basis and only in those unusual cases in which exclusion will further the purposes of the exclusionary rule.").

procedures.”); State v. Morris, 92 A.3d 920, 930-31 (RI 2014) (finding the Fourth Amendment and statutory exclusionary rules did not require exclusion of evidence obtained by city police detectives who arrested the defendant while outside of their jurisdiction because, “the detectives’ conduct here was not egregious enough to justify exclusion of probative evidence, and we decline to expand our exclusionary rule jurisprudence to require the suppression of evidence in the circumstances of the case at bar.”); Delker v. State, 50 So.3d 300 (Miss. 2010) (finding police officer’s stop of a vehicle outside of his territorial jurisdiction did not result from deliberate, reckless, or grossly negligent conduct of the sort warranting application of the exclusionary rule); People v. Clark, 450 N.W.2d 75 (Mich. Ct. App. 1989) (finding there was no recognized basis for the exclusionary rule where an undercover police officer violated a statute dealing with when a law enforcement officer could act outside of his jurisdiction); Troncoso v. Commonwealth, 407 S.E.2d 349 (Va. Ct. App. 1991) (finding evidence may not be suppressed unless it was obtained as a result of a constitutional violation or by violation of a statute that expressly provides for suppression); People v. Martinez, 898 P.2d 28 (Colo. 1995) (holding that where officers unknowingly acted outside of their jurisdiction, the exclusionary rule did not apply because the officers’ conduct did not violate the defendant’s constitutional rights); State v. Weideman, 764 N.E.2d 997, 1002 (Ohio 2002) (“Where a law enforcement officer, acting outside the officer’s statutory territorial jurisdiction, stops and detains a motorist for an offense committed and observed outside the officer’s jurisdiction, the seizure of the motorist is not unreasonable per se under the Fourth Amendment. Therefore, the officer’s statutory violation does not require the suppression of all evidence flowing from the stop.”). Suppression was therefore not warranted under the facts of this case. Appellant’s conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

II.

The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in sentencing Appellant to imprisonment for a term of twenty years where the sentence fell within the permissible statutory limits and Appellant failed to provide evidence that partiality, prejudice, oppression, or corrupt motive factored into the sentence.

Relevant Facts

During Appellant's sentencing hearing, the trial judge stated:

I understand that the police officers had worked almost around the clock in trying to nail this down as a result of [Appellant's] decision to try to conceal his vehicle and his guilt, and I think that the facts of the situation are revealing as to the nature of the type of person [Appellant] is. He went to great lengths to try to avoid being apprehended for the crime and cover up his action. We have law enforcement officers locally and Agent Robinson pleading with him to come clean, and he just never did. There is some question in my mind as to why - - first of all, as to why he didn't stop, and we know he was drinking which was probably why he didn't stop. We have discussed cases where a person sought to cover up detection, and in many instances were successful. That did not occur in this case due to good police work and the decision of the person who turned him in, so he did not get away and is here standing before the Bar of Justice. The actions [Appellant] took were shown by the testimony of the police officers. Since you could not bring yourself to the reality of acknowledging what you did, [Appellant], is something to be considered. Of course, you were under no obligation to say anything to anyone then, nor are you at this time. You have said nothing today. You had nothing to say to the officers when you were arrested. All of that is telling to me as to making an assessment in this case. The law says you must serve not less than one nor more than twenty-five years. That wide range is there because of the discretion given me, and I have tried to figure out what kind of person is standing before the Court today. Whether you are someone who just panicked or for whatever reason, it really does not matter at this point. You have not offered anything different, but as far as the sentence that you should receive I will sentence you to less than the maximum number of years. As you stand here you are facing twenty-five years. This is a sad situation for the family of Mr. Morris as well as for your family. This was a well-known incident. Mr. Morris was well liked and respected. Maybe if you had not been drinking and did not leave the scene after the accident things would have been different.

R. pp. 572-574. The trial judge added, "We know you had been drinking earlier on that day." R. p. 574. The trial judge finally noted, "A judge must tender justice with mercy, and there is, as I said, a wide range of sentence under the statute for that reason. The sentence, [Appellant] is that

you be committed to the State Department of Corrections for a period of twenty years. . . .” R. p. 574.

Discussion

Appellant asserts the trial judge erred in considering his alcohol use during his sentencing hearing. Specifically, Appellant contends the trial judge improperly considered the fact that he was drinking earlier in the day because there was no evidence in the record that Appellant consumed any alcohol after sunset. On the contrary, the trial judge was well within his discretion to consider all relevant factors in the case, including the tragic nature of the crime, the fact that Appellant fled the scene after striking Mr. Morris’s motorcycle, the fact that Appellant likely fled the scene because he had been drinking earlier in the day, the fact that Appellant went to great lengths to avoid detection by law enforcement. The trial judge also noted that, while Appellant was certainly under no obligation to disclose any information during the investigation, at trial, or at sentencing, the fact that he continued to try to avoid detection and refused to accept responsibility was telling in making an assessment of the case.

Standard of Review

The trial judge has broad discretion in imposing a sentence within the statutory limits. State v. Sidell, 262 S.C. 397, 398, 205 S.E.2d 2, 3 (1974). “A judge or other sentencing authority is to be accorded very wide discretion in determining an appropriate sentence, and must be permitted to consider any and all information that reasonably might bear on the proper sentence for the particular defendant, given the crime committed.” State v. Hicks, 377 S.C. 322, 325, 659 S.E.2d 499, 500 (Ct. App. 2008). Generally, appellate courts will only interfere with the discretion of a judge in the imposition of a sentence in rare and unusual circumstances. State v. Ferguson, 221 S.C. 300, 307, 70 S.E.2d 355, 358 (1952). “Absent partiality, prejudice,

oppression, or corrupt motive, [the appellate court] lacks jurisdiction to disturb a sentence that is within the limits prescribed by statute.” State v. Barton, 325 S.C. 522, 531, 481 S.E.2d 439, 444 (Ct. App. 1997).

Analysis

As an initial matter, Appellant’s argument is not preserved for appellate review. In his Motion for New Trial and Reconsideration of Sentence, Appellant only argued that the sentence was unduly harsh in light of his age and that his action of leaving the scene did not compromise the victim’s condition. R. p. 581-584. Similarly, at the hearing on Appellant’s motion that was held on May 21, 2015, Defense Counsel cited Appellant’s age and prior record as factors the court should take into account in considering a new sentence. R. pp. 608, 625-26. Appellant never raised the argument that the trial judge erroneously considered the fact that Appellant was drinking earlier in the day as part of his sentencing consideration. The appellate court will not consider any issues or arguments that were not presented to or passed upon by the trial court, and an appellant is limited on appeal solely to the grounds raised during trial. State v. Fleming, 254 S.C. 415, 421, 175 S.E.2d 624, 627 (1970). Appellant’s argument is thus not preserved for review by this Court.

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